Down-modulation of Bis sensitizes cell death in C6 glioma cells induced by the oxygen-glucose deprivation through inhibiting NF-kappa B activity

Seung Eun Jung

Department of Medical Science

The Graduate School, Yonsei University

Down-modulation of Bis sensitizes cell death in C6 glioma cells induced by the oxygen-glucose deprivation through inhibiting NF-kappa B activity

Directed by Professor Young Soo Ahn

The Doctoral Dissertation submitted to the Department of Medical Science, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Seung Eun Jung

June 2009

This certifies that the Doctoral Dissertation of Seung Eun Jung is approved.

Thesis Supervisor : Young Soo Ahn

[Thesis Committee Member#1: Jeong Hwa Lee)

[Thesis Committee Member#2: Byung In Lee)

[Thesis Committee Member#3: Chul Hoon Kim)

[Thesis Committee Member#4: Chae Ok Yoon)

The Graduate School Yonsei University

June 2009

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

입학한지 여러 해가 지나 이제 마무리를 하게 되 었습니다. 돌아보면 여기까지 오는 동안 많은 일들이 있었고, 여러 분들이 저를 이끌어주고 도움을 주셨습 니다. 가장 먼저 항상 꼼꼼하게 많은 가르침을 주시 는 저의 지도교수님이신 안 영수 교수님께 감사의 마 음을 전해 드리고 싶습니다. 그리고 저를 물심양면으 로 지지해주시고 이끌어 주시는 이 정화 교수님께 감 사 드립니다. 그리고 심사의원으로서 논문 지도에 수 고를 아끼지 않으신 이 병인 교수님, 김 철훈 교수님, 윤 채옥 교수님 감사 드립니다.

그 이외에도 생각해보면 여러 분들께 고마움을 전해드리고 싶습니다. 특히 같이 생활하며 지내왔던 모든 동료들에게 감사의 인사를 보냅니다. 마지막으 로 항상 저와 함께 슬픔과 기쁨을 나누는 저희 가족 들에게 애정과 감사의 마음을 보냅니다.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | 1 |
|---|-------|
| I. INTRODUCTION | 3 |
| II. MATERIALS AND METHODS | 7 |
| 1. Cell culture and reagents | 7 |
| 2. Electroporation of small interfering RNA | 7 |
| 3. OGD treatment and assessment of cell viability | 8 |
| 4. Measurement of ROS production | 8 |
| 5. Determination of superoxide dismutase level | 8 |
| 6. Measurement of catalase activity and glutathione (GSH) | 9 |
| 7. Quantitative real-time reverse transcription polymerase of | chain |
| reaction (RT-PCR) and semi-quantitative RT-PCR | 9 |
| 8. Western blot analysis | 11 |
| 9. Electrophoretic mobility-shift assay (EMSA) | 11 |
| 10. Statistics | 12 |
| III. RESULTS | 13 |
| 1. Induction of Bis after OGD | 13 |
| 2. Bis knock-down increases cell death and ROS production follo | wing |
| OGD | 14 |
| 3. Induction of superoxide dismutase upon OGD is impaired by | y bis |
| knock-down | 16 |
| 4. Bis is involved in the activation of NF- κ B | 20 |
| 5. Bis regulates constitutive expression of p65/RelA | 24 |
| IV. DISCUSSION | 26 |

| V. CONCLUSION | 30 |
|----------------------|----|
| REFERENCES | 31 |
| ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN) | 38 |

PUBLICATION LIST

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1. Induction of Bis after OGD in C6 cells 13 |
|--|
| Figure 2. Bis knock-down increased cell death in C6 cells |
| after OGD 14 |
| Figure 3. Bis knock-down increased accumulation of |
| intracellular ROS in C6 cells after OGD 15 |
| Figure 4. Bis depletion was correlated with repression of |
| SOD activity to OGD in C6 cells 18 |
| Figure 5. Induction of SOD to OGD was impaired by bis |
| knock-down in C6 cells 19 |
| Figure 6. Effect of TEMPOL on the viability following OGD. |
| |
| Figure 7. Inhibition of OGD-induced NF-KB activation by bis |
| knock-down in C6 cells 22 |
| Figure 8. Effect of TPCK on the induction of SOD1 and cell |
| death following OGD 23 |
| Figure 9. Bis regulates constitutive expression of p65 subunit |
| of NF-κB |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1. Primers used for RT-PCR | 10 |
|----------------------------------|----|
| | |

ABSTRACT

Down-modulation of Bis sensitizes cell death in C6 glioma cells induced by the oxygen- glucose deprivation through inhibiting NFkappa B activity

Seung Eun Jung

Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Young Soo Ahn)

Bcl-2 interacting cell death suppressor (Bis) has been implicated in antistress and anti-apoptotic pathways. Previous study showed a significant induction of Bis in the reactive astrocytes of rat hippocampus after transient forebrain ischemia. To investigate the significance of its induction in the ischemic injury, the expression of Bis was reduced by si-RNA strategy in C6 glioma cells, which were then exposed to oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD). Bis knock-down resulted in a decrease in viability after OGD accompanied by ROS accumulation. Among the cellular antioxidants, superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity was significantly perturbed in bis si-RNA treated cells (bis-kd C6). A Subsequent analysis of in-gel reduction ability and quantification of mRNA revealed that induction of SOD1 in response to OGD was impaired at transcriptional levels as a result of bis knock-down. As a candidate for the transcription factor for sod1 gene, the activity of NF-κB was determined using a DNA binding assay and the nuclear translocation of p65 subunit, showing that activation of NF- κ B was attenuated in *bis* si-RNA transfected C6 cells. The treatment of SOD mimetic resulted in the recovery of the viability of C6 cells upon OGD, which is more prominent in bis si-RNA treated C6 cells. Furthermore, the inhibition of NF-kB suppressed the induction of SOD1 transcription and aggravated the cell death, which was potentiated with

reduction of Bis, after OGD. The constitutive levels of p65 were decreased by Bis reduction while Bis overexpression increased p65 protein levels, but not mRNA levels. These results suggest that one of the physiological function of Bis is the regulation of p65 protein stability and thereby NF- κ B activity which affects the induction of SOD1 after oxidative stress and subsequent cell viability. The critical mechanisms by which Bis control the p65 stability remain to be determined.

Key words: Bis, oxygen-glucose deprivation, NF- κ B, superoxide dismutase, C6

Down-modulation of Bis sensitizes cell death in C6 glioma cells induced by the oxygen- glucose deprivation through inhibiting NFkappa B activity

Seung Eun Jung

Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Young Soo Ahn)

I. INTRODUCTION

The Bcl-2 interacting death suppressor (Bis), also referred to as Bag3 and CAIR-1, has been shown to be a Bcl-2 binding protein as evidenced by protein interaction techniques ¹⁻⁴. In vitro DNA transfer experiments show that Bis significantly enhances anti-apoptotic activity of Bel-2, indicating that Bis is a modulator of apoptotic processes ¹. In support of this, Bis expression is increased in several tumors including pancreatic cancer, thyroid tumors and certain forms of leukemia, while its down-modulation sensitizes B-CLL to apoptotic cell deaths induced by several anti-cancer drugs ⁵⁻⁸. In addition to pro-survival ability of Bis, its ability in regulating adhesion and migration may also contribute to tumorigenesis and metastasis of malignant tumor in vivo^{9,10}. Bis is also thought to play a role in cellular reaction to stress, as evidenced by the observation that Bis is induced in response to several stressful conditions, including exposure to high temperature, heavy metals, low intensity pulsed ultrasound and proteasome inhibitors ^{4, 11}. Although the precise function of Bis in the cells that are exposed to stressful environment is not clear, the modulating activity of Bis on chaperon machinery via interaction with ATPase domain of HSP70 suggest that Bis is involved in the

regulating protein stability. Moreover, when Bis is overexpressed, the degradation of Htt43Q, an aggregation-prone protein is accelerated, via stimulating autophagy in concert with HSPB8^{12, 13}. Thus, these results suggest that Bis is implicated in the protein quality control under non-physiological conditions.

It is also noteworthy that, in addition to the stressful conditions given for cellular levels, the expression of Bis is significantly increased in animal disease models for stroke, seizure and retinal degeneration ¹⁴⁻¹⁶. Specifically, Bis is up-regulated in reactive astrocytes in the rat hippocampus after transient forebrain ischemia or kainic acid treatment ^{14, 15}. Moreover, Bis is strongly expressed in reactive astrocytes in area of gliosis in the brain of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) encephalopathy patients, suggesting that Bis is involved in adaptive response of glial cells ¹⁷. However, the physiological significance of Bis induction in the reactive astrocytes is currently unclear.

Oxidative stress has been implicated as a major aspect of the pathophysiology of ischemic brain injury, in which the reactive oxygen species (ROS), generated during reperfusion, induce various cellular damages ¹⁸. Light damage, which induces Bis expression in mouse retina, has been also shown to involve oxidative stress, as evidenced by the fact that several antioxidant genes are up-regulated following photo injury ^{16, 19}. Furthermore, down-modulation of Bis potentates diethylmaleate-induced apoptosis ²⁰. The latter is a glutathione-deprivation agent in normal and neoplastic leukocytes. Collectively, these previous findings suggest that Bis could participate in regulation of cellular response to oxidative stress *in vivo* as well *in vitro*.

The family of nuclear factor-kappaB (NF- κ B) is well known ubiquitous transcription factors that mediate diverse biological processes, ranging from inflammation to cell death ²¹. In mammals, NF- κ B family consists of the five subunits p50, p52, RelA (p65), c-Rel and RelB. Generally, NF- κ B is sequestered in the cytoplasm, bound to an inhibitory molecule, inhibitor kappa B (I κ B). Exposure to a variety kind of signals results in the phosphorylation and subsequent degradation of I κ B by the 26S proteasomes. Then the hetero-or homo-dimer of NF- κ B translocate into the nucleus and bind to κ B-sites of

target genes and initiate gene expression. There is plenty of *in vivo* and *in vitro* evidence for activation of NF-κB in astrocytes during oxidative stress. For examples, hydrogen peroxide, oxygen-glucose deprivation, ionizing radiation and HIV-1 Tat have been shown to activate NF-κB and to modulate cell death ²²⁻²⁷. However, the consequence of activation of NF-κB by oxidative stress is thought to be cell- and stimulus-type dependent. In non-neuronal cells, NF-κB is usually considered as a cell survival factor ²⁸. However, in neuronal system, it remains the question of whether NF-κB is a cell survival factor or a cell death factor ²⁹. Therefore, the anti-cell death or pro-cell death role of NF-κB against oxidative stress remains unclear to the present.

Superoxide dismutases (SODs) are the primary line of antioxidant enzymes against oxidative stress, which is considered as pivotal factor in several neurodegenerative diseases ³⁰. They constitute a family of enzymes that catalyzes the conversion of superoxide anions to molecular oxygen and hydrogen peroxide. They include the copper-zinc-containing SOD (SOD1) in the cytoplasm with a small fraction in the mitochondria intermembrane space and the manganese-containing SOD (SOD2) in the mitochondria and the Ec-SOD (SOD3) in the extracellular spaces. An ample of literatures demonstrates that the SOD overexpression might protect while, the SOD depletion might increase vulnerability against oxidative stress conditions ³¹.

Lim at al. recently reported that GMF, when transfected in rat glioma cells activates NF- κ B, leading to an induction of SOD transcript and enzyme activity ³². Additionally, study from other laboratory has shown that NF- κ B is activated during OGD in mouse primary astrocytes and has a biphasic role on cell survival depending SOD expression ²⁵. Furthermore, other researcher has demonstrated that activation of NF- κ B induces SOD and protects hippocampal neurons against reactive oxygen species-induced apoptosis ³³. Overall, these data indicate that oxidative stress could activate NF- κ B and may induce SOD as a down stream target gene.

In the present study, therefore, the effect of repression of Bis expression on the cellular response to oxidative stress was investigated using an *in vitro*

hypoxia model based on oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD) in C6 rat glioma cells 34 . The findings herein indicate that a decrease in Bis expression in C6 cells increases cell death induced by OGD, accompanied by impairment in the induction of superoxide dismutase (SOD), which is linked to inhibition of NF- κ B.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Cell culture and reagents

C6 cells, originating from a rat brain glioma, were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA). Cells were maintained with DMEM (Hyclone, Logan, UT, USA) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 mg/ml streptomycin at 37° C in a humidified incubator under 5% CO₂ and 95% humidified atmosphere.

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA), unless specified otherwise. TEMPOL was purchased from Calbiochem (La Jolla, CA, USA). DCF-DA was from Molecular Probe (Eugene, OR, USA).

2. Electroporation of small interfering RNA

Suppression of Bis expression was performed by transfection of specific si-RNA targeted for *bis* (5'-AAGGUUCAGACCAUCUUGGAA-3') using a microporator (MP-10; iNCYTO, Suwon, Korea) The *bis* si-RNA duplex targeted against nucleotides 1496-1518 of the *bis* messenger RNA sequence and the nonfunctional negative control si-RNA did not target any gene (Bioneer, Daejeon, Korea)¹⁷. Transfection of C6 cells were performed with si-RNA for *bis* and negative control si-RNA using electorporation according to the manufacturer's instruction. Cells, adjusted to a density of 2.5 x 10^5 cells in phosphate buffered saline (PBS), were transfected with si-RNA oligos using a microporator at 1,700 V and pulse width of 20 msec. The efficacy of si-RNA was confirmed by Western blotting.

3. OGD treatment and assessment of cell viability

After 48 hours of transfection, C6 cells were washed twice with degassed DMEM without glucose and serum, and then placed in an anaerobic chamber (Thermo Forma, Marietta, Ohio, USA) containing 85% (v/v) N₂, 10% (v/v) H₂, 5% (v/v) CO₂ at 37 °C for 6 hours. The viability was determined by reducing ability of 2-(4, 5-dimethyltriazol-2- yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT; Duchefa, Haarlem, the Netherlands), an indication of metabolic activity ³⁵. The viability of C6 cells placed in DMEM without glucose and serum for the same time was used as control.

4. Measurement of ROS production

The levels of ROS in cells following OGD-treatment were determined using the fluorescent probe DCF-DA. At the end of treatment, cells were washed three times with PBS, incubated for 30 min with 10 μ M DCF-DA, and then washed twice with PBS. Fluorescent intensities were observed at 4 hours after OGD using a fluorescence inverted microscope (IX71; Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) and photographed.

5. Determination of superoxide dismutase level

SOD activity was determined by zymography according to the method of Beauchamp and Fridovich with slightly modification ³⁶. Briefly, the cells were lysed and sonicated for 15 sec in ice-cold 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 7.8, containing 1 mM EDTA. An equal amount of each sample (20 μ g of protein) was electrophoresed in 12% (w/v) non-denaturing polyacrylamide gel. The gel was stained in 2 mg/ml NBT (nitroblue tetrazolium), 0.028 mM riboflavin, 30 mM TEMED, 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 7.8, 1 mM EDTA for 15 min in the dark. The gel was rinsed in water and illuminated until clear zones of SOD activity were evident. SOD activity was

also determined by Superoxide Dismutase Activity Kit (Stressgen Bioreagents, Victoria, Canada).

6. Measurement of catalase activity and glutathione (GSH)

Catalase activity was determined as the ability of the cell extract to decompose a given concentration of H_2O_2 . Hydrogen peroxide was measured fluorometrically using the Amplex Red catalase assay kit (Molecular Proves, Eugene, OR, USA). The method is based on the ability of the reagent, Amplex Red. Briefly, a solution of H_2O_2 was added to cell extracts in a total volume of 50 µl of a solution containing Amplex Red and HRP was added to each reaction and incubated for 30 min at 37 °C in the dark. The fluorescence was measured in a microplate reader (Victor3; Perkin Elmer, Turku, Finland) using excitation at 530 nm and emission detection at 595 nm.

Total amounts of GSH were determined using a commercially available kit (OxisResearch, Foster city, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For total GSH, OGD treated cells were harvested with 60 μ l of ice-cold cell lysis buffer. Cell lysates were centrifuged and supernatants were mixed with 60 μ l of 5% metaphosphoric acid and recentrifuged, and the supernatants obtained were mixed with assay buffer at a 10-fold dilution. Changes in absorbance at 412 nm were monitored for 3 min.

7. Quantitative real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT–PCR) and semi-quantitative RT-PCR

Total RNA isolated from cells using RNA-Bee (Tel-Test, Friendswood, TX, USA) and quantified by spectrophotometer (ND-1000; NanoDrop Technologies Inc., USA). 2 μ g RNA was used for reverse transcription by using an AccuPower CycleScript (dN6) (Bioneer, Daejeon, Korea). To validate the expression level of the SOD1 and SOD2, a quantitative real time PCR was performed using the cDNA as templates and the specific primer sets ^{37, 38} (Table. 1). The amplification was carried out using Mx3000p cycler

(Stratagene, La Jolla, CA, USA) in a 25 μ l reaction mixture containing 0.5~ 2 μ l of diluted cDNA templates, 5 pmol of each primer and 12.5 μ l of 2x SYBR[®] premix Ex TaqTM (TaKaRa Biotechnology Co., Dalian, China) including ROX dye. The reaction of each sample was performed in duplicate. 18S rRNA was used to normalize the expression levels of each sample ³⁹.

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR was performed using a Top-TaqTM DNA polymerase kit (CoreBio Lifescience & Biotech, Seoul, Korea) following a protocol provided by the manufacturer. Briefly, 2 μ l cDNA was added to a 18 μ l reaction premix containing 1x buffer, 0.2 mM dNTP mix, 10 pmole forward and reverse primers (Table. 1) and 1.2 units DNA polymerase. The PCR reactions were performed with a master cycler gradient (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). The reaction condition was an initial step of denaturation (5 min at 95°C), 35 cycles of amplification (95°C for 30 sec, 60°C for 30 sec, and 72°C for 1 min), and an extension (72°C for 5 min). Then, PCR products were electrophoretically analyzed on 1.5% agarose gels containing ethidium bromide.

| Gene | | Sequences | GeneBank# |
|-----------|---|--------------------------------|--------------|
| Bis | F | AAGCCAACAG CTAGAAGCCA AAGC | DO(21552 |
| | R | AAGTTACTGC ATACCAGGCG GCTA | DQ031552 |
| SOD1 | F | GGATTAACTGAAGGCGAGCA | NIM 017050 |
| | R | CAATCACCACCAAGCCAAG | NM_017030 |
| SOD2 | F | CACGACCCACTGCAAGGAA | NIM 017051 |
| | R | GCGTGCTCCCACACATCA | NM_01/031 |
| NF-кВ р65 | F | CATCAAGATCAATGGCTACA | NM 100267.2 |
| | R | CACAAGTTCATGTGGATGAG | NM_199207.2 |
| β-actin | F | TCATGAAGTGTGACGTTGACATCCGTAAAG | NIM 021144 |
| | R | CCTAGAAGCATTTGCGGTGCACGATGGAGG | NW_031144 |
| 18S rRNA | F | GTAACCCGTTGAACCCCATT | NIM 212557 |
| | R | CCATCCAATCGGTAGTAGCG | INIVI_21333/ |

Table 1. Primers used for RT-PCR

8. Western blot analysis

Cells were lysed with radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA) on ice for 30 min. After centrifugation, the supernatant was used for Western blotting. The concentration of protein was measured by a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) with BSA as a standard. Equal proteins were separated on 10 % sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA). The membranes were incubated for 1 hour with 5% dry skim milk in TBST buffer to block nonspecific binding and then incubated with antibodies against Bis (1:10,000), HIF-1 α (1: 500; Novus biologicals, Littleton, CO, USA), beta (β)-actin (1:10,000; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), NF-KB p65, and LaminB (1:1,000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, USA)^{14, 15}. After washing with TBST (Tris, NaCl, 0.1% Tween 20), the membranes were then incubated with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:2000; Promega, Madison, WI, USA) for 1 hour. Immunoreactive bands were visualized with the enhanced chemiluminescence detection system (ECL; Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Bucks, UK) according to manufacturer's protocol.

9. Electrophoretic mobility-shift assay (EMSA)

Cytoplasmic and nuclear extracts of OGD-treated cells were prepared using NE-PER Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Extraction Kit (PIERCE, Rockford, IL, USA). An EMSA was performed according to the method of Byun et al ⁴⁰. The oligonucleotide containing consensus recognition sequence (5'-AGTTGAGGGGACTTTCCCAGGC-3') for NF- κ B was obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechonology, and end-labeled with T4 polynucleotide kinase and [γ -³²P] ATP. Binding reaction was performed with 10 µg of nuclear extract and the reaction products were analyzed on 6% PAGE in 0.5 x TBE buffer [22.5 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.5, 22.5 mM borate, 0.5 mM EDTA]. The dried gel was exposed to film on intensifying screen for overnight at -70 °C.

10. Statistics

Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM of at least three experiments. Results were analyzed with Student's *t* test or analysis of variance (ANOVA), with P < 0.05 as the significant level.

III. RESULTS

1. Induction of Bis after OGD

In an earlier study, a significant increase of Bis expression has observed in reactive astrocytes after transient forebrain ischemia ¹⁴. To determine if Bis is also induced by *in vitro* hypoxia, the expression levels of Bis were determined after OGD in C6 rat glioma cells. As shown in Fig. 1A, the levels of Bis in C6 cells that were exposed to OGD increased in a time dependent manner. The induction of Bis during reperfusion period was greater than that during hypoxic period. The significant increase in HIF-1 α levels indicates the effective induction of hypoxic states in this system. The increase in Bis protein levels was due to an increase in *bis* mRNA levels, as evidenced by the semi-quantitative RT-PCR (Fig. 1B).



Figure 1. Induction of Bis after OGD in C6 cells.

C6 cells were exposed to OGD for 4 hours and then allowed to recover in normal medium for additional 6 hours. Bis expression at the indicated times was determined by Western blotting assay with the whole cell lysates (A) and by semi-quantitative RT-PCR (B). Beta (β)-actin expression was shown as internal control.

2. *Bis* knock-down increases cell death and ROS production following OGD

To define the physiological significance of Bis induction in response to OGD, Bis expression was down-regulated by *bis* specific siRNA oligonucleotides prior to exposure to OGD. Western blot shows that *bis* knock-down C6 (*bis*-kd C6) cells show a decrease in Bis protein levels to 30% of C6 cells transfected control siRNA (control C6) by densitometry analysis (Fig. 2A). Next, cell viability experiment was done to examine the effect of reduced Bis expression on cell death induced by OGD-insults. As determined by MTT assay, the viability of control C6 cells after 6 hours of OGD was 69 % as compared to the C6 cells that had not been exposed to OGD, whereas the viability of *bis*-kd C6 cells was 26%, indicating that reduced Bis expression increases the sensitivity of C6 cells to OGD insults (Fig. 2B).



Figure 2. *Bis* knock-down increased cell death in C6 cells after OGD.(A) Western blotting for Bis expression after transfection of control siRNA or specific siRNA targeted for *bis* mRNA into C6 cells for 48 hours.

(B) After transfection with control or *bis*-siRNA, C6 cells were exposed OGD for 4 hours and the viability was determined by MTT assay. The relative viability was represented as percent (%) of the viability of control or *bis*-kd C6 cells exposed to OGD to the viability of the corresponding cells exposed to glucose-deprived medium for 4 hours. *** P< 0.001 compared with control.

Since the down-regulation of Bis increased cell death as a result of OGD insults, ROS levels in the cells were measured to determine whether the reduced expression of Bis may be correlated with accumulation of reactive oxygen species, which are implicated in hypoxic damage to cells ¹⁸. For this purpose, intracellular ROS accumulation was estimated by DCF-DA staining. As showed in Fig. 3, DCF fluorescence was elevated significantly in bis-kd C6 cells after 4 hours of OGD exposure.





DCF-DA

Figure 3. Bis knock-down increased accumulation of intracellular ROS in C6 cells after OGD.

ROS accumulation following OGD was examined under fluorescence microscopy after incubation with the DCF-DA in the presence or absence of NAC as described in materials and methods (upper panels). The cell morphology was observed by phase contrast microscopy (lower panels)

Furthermore, a pretreatment of 1 mM N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC), the representative ROS scavenger ⁴¹, nearly eliminated the DCF signals both in control and *bis*-kd C6 cells. These findings strongly suggest that Bis may well play a role in ROS generation or ROS elimination in the oxidative stress signaling pathway, which is associated with survival of cells.

3. Induction of superoxide dismutase upon OGD is impaired by *bis* **knock-down**

In order to explain the relation of Bis reduction and the accumulation of ROS upon OGD, the activities or amounts of several cellular antioxidants were measured after OGD. In control C6 cells, the activity of catalase was increased to 170% by OGD. In bis-kd C6, the basal activity of catalase was higher than that in control C6 cells which was further increased by OGD, from 160% to 200%, compared to the catalase activity of control C6 cells that had not been exposed OGD. Total GSH levels were not affected by OGD in either control C6 cells or bis-kd C6 cells (Fig. 4). In contrast, SOD activity was decreased by OGD in bis-kd C6 cells while it was increased in control C6 cells. It is known that total cellular SOD activity is determined by the sum of activities cytosolic SOD (SOD1) and mitochondrial SOD (SOD2)^{42,43}. Then, SOD zymography was performed to determine which SOD activity is affected by Bis expression levels ³⁶. Fig. 5A shows that a gradual increase in the intensity of SOD1 in control C6 cells occurs, which is decreased in bis-kd C6 cells during OGD. The quantitative analysis of mRNA levels for SOD1 indicated that SOD1 mRNA levels were significantly increased by OGD in control C6 cells but it was rather decreased in bis-kd cells (Fig. 5B). The induction of SOD2 mRNA levels was not as significant as SOD1 in control C6 cells but in *bis*-kd C6 cells, the transcript levels for SOD2 were decreased only slightly after 4 h of OGD. To confirm if the effect of the downmodulation of Bis in decreasing cell survival is related with insufficient levels of SOD, a SOD mimetic, 4-hydroxy-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-N-oxyl (TEMPOL) was added to the media before OGD and determined the degree of

recovery in cell death. As shown in Fig. 6, the pretreatment with TEMPOL increased the viability of control cells from 60% to 69% to OGD, while pretreatment with TEMPOL led to a more marked recovery in cell viability in *bis*-kd C6 cells, from 38% to 54%. These findings suggest that the decrease in Bis expression resulted in an impairment of SOD1 induction to OGD and the subsequent accumulation of ROS, which sensitize C6 cells to oxidative stress.



Figure 4. Bis depletion was correlated with repression of SOD activity to OGD in C6 cells.

After 4 hours of OGD, the activity of catalase (A) and the total amounts of GSH (B), and SOD activity (C) were determined from control C6 and *bis*-kd C6 cells using commercial kits as described in materials and methods. The relative activity for catalase or SOD was represented as percent (%) of the activity at the indicated times of OGD to the activity of C6 cells before exposure to OGD. ** P< 0.01 compared with control.





Figure 5. Induction of SOD by OGD was impaired by *bis* knock-down in C6 cells.

(A) SOD activity was evaluated by zymography with the cell extracts from the indicated times during OGD in control and *bis*-kd C6 cells. The fold inductions at the indicated times were shown compared to that of control C 6 cells unexposed to OGD.

(B) The induction of SOD1 or SOD2 mRNA following OGD was examined by quantitative RT-PCR in control and *bis*-kd C6 cells. The transcripts level of SOD1 or SOD2 of control C6 cells before exposure to OGD was arbitrarily designated as 1.



Figure 6. Effect of TEMPOL on the viability following OGD. Effect of SOD mimetic on the survival of control or *bis*-kd C6 cells after OGD. Percent (%) viability was determined by MTT assay as in Fig.2.

4. Bis is involved in the activation of NF-**k**B

Since SOD1 induction in response to OGD is impaired at mRNA levels in *bis*-kd C6 cells, the activation of NF- κ B, a redox-regulated transcription factor was investigated, after OGD. Using a consensus probe for NF- κ B, EMSA was performed with nuclear extracts from C6 cells after OGD to determine DNA binding activity of NF- κ B. As shown in Fig. 7A, DNA binding activity of NF- κ B increased in a time dependent manner in control C6 cells, but was less prominent in *bis*-kd C6 cells. The activation of NF- κ B was also examined by nuclear translocation of p65 of NF- κ B after OGD. A Western blotting analysis shows that p65 protein levels in nuclear extracts were obviously increased by 4 hours of OGD insults in control C6 cells. On the contrary, p65 levels at the basal as well as after OGD in nucleus compartment in *bis*-kd C6 cells was significantly lower in *bis*-kd C6 cells. Fig. 7B also shows that the levels of p65 in cytosol fraction was also gradually increased in control C6 cells during

OGD insults, which is not obvious in *bis*-kd C6 cells. Next, it was determined whether inhibition of NF-κB affects OGD-induced SOD1 induction. C6 cells were treated with N-tosyl-L-phenylalanine chloromethyl ketone (TPCK), which has been shown to inhibit NF-κB activation by blocking degradation of IκB, prior to exposure to OGD, and SOD1 mRNA levels were determined by semi-quantitative RT-PCR. After 4 hours of OGD, mRNA levels for SOD1 were increased in control cells, which were dose dependently down-regulated by TPCK. In addition, SOD1 transcripts levels in *bis*-kd C6 cells were also decreased as a result of TPCK with a similar inhibitory potency (Fig. 8A). Then, MTT assay was performed to see whether the inhibitory effect of TPCK on the induction of SOD mRNA resulted in an increase of cell death after OGD. As shown in Fig. 8B, TPCK pretreatment increased cell death both control and *bis*-kd C6 cells following OGD but the susceptibility was greater in *bis*-kd C6 cells.





(A) DNA-binding activity of NF- κ B was examined using a radiolabeled consensus probe and nuclear fractions extracted from control or *bis*-kd C6 cells at the indicated times of exposure to OGD.

(B) Nuclear translocation of p65 subunit of NF- κ B was shown by immunoblotting for p65 with nuclear extracts (NE) or cytopalsmic extracts (CE) after OGD for the indicated times. Bis expression in cytoplasmic fraction was also examined. Lamin and β -actin levels were shown as loading controls.





TPCK was pretreated 1 hour before OGD and exposed to OGD for 4 hours. The induction of SOD1 mRNA (A) and viability (B) in control C6 and *bis*-kd C6 cells were determined by semi-quantitative RT-PCR and MTT assay as in Figure 4 and Figure 2, respectively.

5. Bis regulates constitutive expression of p65/RelA

Since *bis* knock-down caused the decrease in p65 levels both in cytosol and nuclear fractions, it was examined the possibility that *bis* knock-down decreases the constitutive levels of p65. Western blotting of total protein extracts with p65 antibody shows a decrease of p65 protein levels in *bis*-kd cells compared to control C6 cells (Fig. 9A). On the other hands, the transient overexpression of Bis up-regulates p65 protein levels (Fig. 9B). The levels of p65 mRNA were not significantly affected by Bis expression as shown in RT-PCR experiments. Thus, Bis appears to modulate constitutive p65 levels via its ability to regulate protein stability.



Figure 9. Bis regulates constitutive expression of p65 subunit of NF-kB.

(A) Bis expression was down-modulated by transient transfection of *bis* siRNAs or up-regulated by transfection of *bis*/ myc-3.1 vector for 48 hours. The Bis and p65 expressions were evaluated by immunoblotting.

(B) The mRNA levels of p65 expressions were analyzed by quantitative RT-PCR.

IV. DISCUSSION

Previous experiment showed that Bis is up-regulated in the reactive astrocytes of hippocampus of rats after transient global ischemia ¹⁴. The induction of Bis *in vivo* upon oxidative stresses has been also reported by others, i.e., in case of focal ischemia and retinal damage by light ^{16,44}. In this report, it was demonstrated that Bis expression was also induced in C6 glioma cells using an *in vitro* hypoxia model, OGD, which was regulated at transcriptional level, indicating that Bis is an important reactive protein in oxidative stresses (Fig. 1). To understand the physiological significance of induction of Bis following OGD better, si-RNA system was used in this experiment to reduce Bis expression in C6 cells in which the basal level of Bis is quite high.

The down-modulation of Bis expression led to C6 cells more susceptible to OGD-induced death (Fig. 2A, B). Thus, it can be postulated that the induction of Bis *in vitro* as well as in the reactive astrocytes *in vivo* might be related with protective mechanism against oxidative stress.

It has been generally accepted that the production of ROS in reperfusion period following ischemic period has been implicated in pathophysiology of brain damage after cerebral ischemia ¹⁸. During reperfusion, ROS accumulate as a result of a perturbation in the balance between the production of oxygen radicals and the antioxidant mechanisms by which the cells counteract the deleterious effect of ROS, as exerted by several antioxidants such GSH, catalase and SOD. Although the recovery time was not separately given in this OGD system, current study also revealed that ROS accumulation occurred in C6 cells following OGD, which was significantly increased by Bis reduction. Since the cells in the media were immediately exposed to atmosphere as soon as they were removed from hypoxic chamber, this could mimic the reperfusion condition. On the other hands, it has been previously shown that oxygen radicals are generated during brief OGD, probably as a result of mitochondrial dysfunction, which activates cellular antioxidant systems,

resulting in protective effects against the subsequent ischemia in neurons ^{45, 46}. In primary astrocytes culture, even glucose deprivation led to an increase in ROS accumulation ^{47, 48}. Thus, Bis might be involved in controlling the generation of ROS during OGD or during the short recovery time. However, based on the findings presented herein, it is not clear when the generation of ROS occurs.

Present results suggest that SOD1 can be considered to be a candidate protein which is responsible for the accumulation of ROS in *bis*-kd C6 cells as follows. While total glutathione levels as well as catalase activity was not decreased in bis-kd C6, the SOD activity measured by direct reduction of superoxide anion was decreased bis-kd C6 cells compared to significant increase in control C6 cells (Fig. 4). In addition, an indirect reduction of NBT in-gel assay and quantitative measurement for mRNA shown that induction of SOD1 activity failed in bis-kd C6 cells (Fig. 5A, B). And the clear bands of SOD2, which should appear in a lower section of the native gel than SOD1, were not detected in this system. This is not likely due to an error in experimental procedure. This observation is supported by previous reports showing that SOD2 was not detected by zymography in C6 cells and several cancer cells ^{49, 50}. Furthermore, treatment of SOD mimetic led to the recovery in viability following OGD, which is more pronounced in bis-kd C6 cells (Fig. 6). In addition, the induction of mRNA levels for NADPH oxidase 2, which is mainly involved in ROS generation to oxidative stress, was not influenced by Bis reduction (data not shown), excluding the possibility that Bis modulates ROS production. Since Bis is mainly localized in cytosol, it is not likely that Bis directly regulates the transcription of SOD1 gene¹. Thus, it is probable that Bis regulates some transcription factor, which is activated by oxidative stresses.

A number of transcription factors such as activator protein-1, NF- κ B, specificity protein-1 and hypoxia-inducible factors are known to modulate gene expressions in response to cellular oxidative stress ⁵¹. Among the redox-sensitive transcription factors, NF- κ B plays an important role in cellular response to a variety of stress signals including environmental hypoxia as well

as traumatic brain injury ²⁵. It has been known that 5'-flanking region of *sod1* gene has putative binding sites for NF- κ B in addition to HSE, c/EBP and ARE ⁵². Furthermore, PI3K/Akt pathway protects cells against oxidative stress, involving the up-regulation of SOD1 expression via NF- κ B ²⁵. These findings indicate that SOD1 is one of the target genes of NF- κ B, of which activation could be modulated by Bis. This presumption is supported by the current results as follows. NF- κ B activation after OGD was suppressed in *bis*-kd C6 cells as evidenced by DNA binding activity and nuclear translocation of p65 (Fig. 7A, B). The inhibition of NF- κ B also decreased the induction of SOD1 mRNA level, which was more profound in *bis*-kd C6 cells, after OGD (Fig. 8A). The decrease in the viability upon OGD by NF- κ B inhibition was also exacerbated in *bis*-kd C6 cells (Fig. 8B). Therefore, taken together, one of the physiological significances of the increase of Bis following hypoxia appear to be the activation of SOD1 to protect cells from oxidative damage, probably via activation of NF- κ B.

The mechanism by which Bis regulates activation of NF- κ B is not certain at the present. It has been reported that Bis physically interacts with p65 subunit of NF- κ B in the cells derived from human astrocytoma ¹⁷. However, their interaction appears to prevent the nuclear entry of p65, suppressing the DNA-binding activity of p65 on LTR of HIV, which is contrary to the postulation provided in current results, although the resulting effect is to protect host cells from viral replication. In this study, in addition to nuclear level of p65, the cytoplasmic levels of p65 were also increased during OGD in a time dependent manner, which was markedly attenuated by bis knock-down (Fig. 7B). The overexpression of Bis was also found to increase p65 protein levels, but not mRNA levels (Fig. 9). Thus, it is feasible that an association of NF- κ B with Bis may stabilize the p65 protein, permitting to accumulate in the cytosol, which promotes the nuclear entry upon dissociation with IkB. However, further studies are required to define the precise mechanism by which Bis stabilizes p65 protein. It should be also noted that the basal levels of catalase as well as SOD1 were higher in bis-kd C6 cells than control C6 cells (Fig. 4), indicating that the antioxidant system may be already triggered

by *bis* knock-down even before OGD. In this respect, the direct effect of Bis on the antioxidant systems should be examined in more detail to clarify its role in subsequent OGD insults.

In summary, this study demonstrates that Bis reduction sensitizes C6 cells to OGD-induced death, which is probably related with the impairment of SOD1 induction due to the decrease of constitutive levels of p65 subunit of NF- κ B.

V. CONCLUSION

To investigate the significance of Bis induction in the reactive astrocytes of rat hippocampus after transient forebrain ischemia, si-RNA system was employed to reduce Bis expression in C6 glioma cells. And then, oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD), as known by *in vitro* hypoxia model, was used for studying both the effect and the underlying mechanisms of Bis induction following oxidative stress.

1. Bis was markedly induced after OGD in C6 rat glioma cells.

2. The repression of Bis expression by si-RNA aggravated cell death with accumulation of reactive oxygen species in C6 rat glioma cells subjected to OGD exposure.

3. Down-modulation of Bis expression resulted in the impairment of induction of superoxide dismutase1 expression after OGD injury, which was due to the attenuation of transcription of *sod1* gene.

4. Bis reduction attenuated NF- κ B activation induced by OGD insults and the constitutive levels of p65/RelA was down- or up-regulated by reduction or overexpression of Bis, respectively.

Therefore, Bis might have a protective role in oxidative stress in rat C6 glioma cells, probably via modulating the stability of p65/RelA and subsequent NF- κ B activity.

REFERENCES

1. Lee JH, Takahashi T, Yasuhara N, Inazawa J, Kamada S, Tsujimoto Y. Bis, a Bcl-2-binding protein that synergizes with Bcl-2 in preventing cell death. Oncogene 1999;18:6183-90.

2. Takayama S, Xie Z, Reed JC. An evolutionarily conserved family of Hsp70/Hsc70 molecular chaperone regulators. J Biol Chem 1999;274:781-6.

3. Doong H, Price J, Kim YS, Gasbarre C, Probst J, Liotta LA et al. CAIR-1/BAG-3 forms an EGF-regulated ternary complex with phospholipase Cgamma and Hsp70/Hsc70. Oncogene 2000;19:4385-95.

4. Rosati A, Ammirante M, Gentilella A, Basile A, Festa M, Pascale M et al. Apoptosis inhibition in cancer cells: a novel molecular pathway that involves BAG3 protein. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2007;39:1337-42.

5. Liao Q, Ozawa F, Friess H, Zimmermann A, Takayama S, Reed JC et al. The anti-apoptotic protein BAG-3 is overexpressed in pancreatic cancer and induced by heat stress in pancreatic cancer cell lines. FEBS Lett 2001;503:151-7.

6. Chiappetta G, Ammirante M, Basile A, Rosati A, Festa M, Monaco M, Vuttariello E et al. The antiapoptotic protein BAG3 is expressed in thyroid carcinomas and modulates apoptosis mediated by tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007;92:1159-63.

7. Liu P, Xu B, Li J, Lu H. BAG3 gene silencing sensitizes leukemic cells to Bortezomib-induced apoptosis. FEBS Lett 2009;583:401-6.

8. Romano MF, Festa M, Pagliuca G, Lerose R, Bisogni R, Chiurazzi F et al.

BAG3 protein controls B-chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cell apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 2003;10:383-5.

9. Kassis JN, Guancial EA, Doong H, Virador V, Kohn EC. CAIR-1/BAG-3 modulates cell adhesion and migration by downregulating activity of focal adhesion proteins. Exp Cell Res 2006;312:2962-71.

10. Iwasaki M, Homma S, Hishiya A, Dolezal SJ, Reed JC, Takayama S. BAG3 regulates motility and adhesion of epithelial cancer cells. Cancer Res 2007;67:10252-9.

11. Du ZX, Meng X, Zhang HY, Guan Y, Wang HQ. Caspase-dependent cleavage of BAG3 in proteasome inhibitors-induced apoptosis in thyroid cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008;369:894-8.

12. Carra S, Seguin SJ, Lambert H, Landry J. HspB8 chaperone activity toward poly(Q)-containing proteins depends on its association with Bag3, a stimulator of macroautophagy. J Biol Chem 2008;283:1437-44.

13. Carra S, Brunsting JF, Lambert H, Landry J, Kampinga HH. HspB8 participates in protein quality control by a non-chaperone-like mechanism that requires eIF2 {alpha} phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 2009;284:5523-32.

14. Lee MY, Kim SY, Choi JS, Choi YS, Jeon MH, Lee JH, et al. Induction of Bis, a Bcl-2-binding protein, in reactive astrocytes of the rat hippocampus following kainic acid-induced seizure. Exp Mol Med 2002;34:167-71.

15. Lee MY, Kim SY, Shin SL, Choi YS, Lee JH, Tsujimoto Y et al. Reactive astrocytes express bis, a bcl-2-binding protein, after transient forebrain ischemia. Exp Neurol 2002;175:338-46.

16. Chen L, Wu W, Dentchev T, Zeng Y, Wang J, Tsui I et al. Light damage

induced changes in mouse retinal gene expression. Exp Eye Res 2004;79:239-47.

17. Rosati A, Leone A, Del Valle L, Amini S, Khalili K, Turco MC. Evidence for BAG3 modulation of HIV-1 gene transcription. J Cell Physiol 2007;210:676-83.

18. Fujimura M, Tominaga T, Chan PH. Neuroprotective effect of an antioxidant in ischemic brain injury: involvement of neuronal apoptosis. Neurocrit Care 2005;2:59-66.

19. Kutty RK, Kutty G, Wiggert B, Chader GJ, Darrow RM, Organisciak DT. Induction of heme oxygenase 1 in the retina by intense visible light: suppression by the antioxidant dimethylthiourea. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92:1177-81.

20. Bonelli P, Petrella A, Rosati A, Romano MF, Lerose R, Pagliuca MG et al. BAG3 protein regulates stress-induced apoptosis in normal and neoplastic leukocytes. Leukemia 2004;18:358-60.

21. Perkins ND. Integrating cell-signalling pathways with NF-kappaB and IKK function. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007;8:49-62.

22. Marangolo M, McGee MM, Tipton KF, Williams DC, Zisterer DM. Oxidative stress induces apoptosis in C6 glioma cells: involvement of mitogen-activated protein kinases and nuclear factor kappa B. Neurotox Res 2001;3:397-409.

23. Choi JJ, Choi J, Kang CD, Chen X, Wu CF, Ko KH et al. Hydrogen peroxide induces the death of astrocytes through the down-regulation of the constitutive nuclear factor-kappaB activity. Free Radic Res 2007;41:555-62.

24. Wang ZF, Tang XC. Huperzine A protects C6 rat glioma cells against oxygen-glucose deprivation-induced injury. FEBS Lett 2007;581:596-602.

25. Lee YS, Song YS, Giffard RG, Chan PH. Biphasic role of nuclear factorkappa B on cell survival and COX-2 expression in SOD1 Tg astrocytes after oxygen glucose deprivation. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2006;26:1076-88.

26. Raju U, Gumin GJ, Tofilon PJ. NF kappa B activity and target gene expression in the rat brain after one and two exposures to ionizing radiation. Radiat Oncol Investig 1999;7:145-52.

27. Song HY, Ju SM, Lee JA, Kwon HJ, Eum WS, Jang SH, Choi SY, Park J. Suppression of HIV-1 Tat-induced monocyte adhesiveness by a cell-permeable superoxide dismutase in astrocytes. Exp Mol Med 2007;39:778-86.

28. Lee J, Kim CH, Shim KD, Ahn YS. Inhibition of NF-κB activation increased oxygen-glucose deprivation-induced cerebral endothelial cell death. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol 2003;7:65-71.

29. Clemens JA. Cerebral ischemia: gene activation, neuronal injury, and the protective role of antioxidants. Free Radic Biol Med 2000;28:1526-31.

30. Aquilano K, Vigilanza P, Rotilio G, Ciriolo MR. Mitochondrial damage due to SOD1 deficiency in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells: a rationale for the redundancy of SOD1. FASEB J 2006;20:1683-5.

31. Huang TT, Carlson EJ, Raineri I, Gillespie AM, Kozy H, Epstein CJ. The use of transgenic and mutant mice to study oxygen free radical metabolism. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1999;893:95-112.

32. Lim R, Zaheer A, Yorek MA, Darby CJ, Oberley LW. Activation of nuclear factor-kappaB in C6 rat glioma cells after transfection with glia

maturation factor. J Neurochem 2000;74:596-602.

33. Mattson MP, Goodman Y, Luo H, Fu W, Furukawa K. Activation of NFkappaB protects hippocampal neurons against oxidative stress-induced apoptosis: evidence for induction of manganese superoxide dismutase and suppression of peroxynitrite production and protein tyrosine nitration. J Neurosci Res 1997;49:681-97.

34. Goldberg MP, Choi DW. Combined oxygen and glucose deprivation in cortical cell culture: calcium-dependent and calcium-independent mechanisms of neuronal injury. J Neurosci 1993;13:3510-24.

35. Mosmann T. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. J Immunol Method 1983;65:55-63.

36. Beauchamp C, Fridovich I. Superoxide dismutase: improved assays and an assay applicable to acrylamide gels. Anal Biochem 1971;44:276-87.

37. Willis D, Li KW, Zheng JQ, Chang JH, Smit A, Kelly T et al. Differential transport and local translation of cytoskeletal, injury-response, and neurodegeneration protein mRNAs in axons. J Neurosci 2005;25:778-91.

38. Sreekumar R, Unnikrishnan J, Fu A, Nygren J, Short KR, Schimke J et al. Effects of caloric restriction on mitochondrial function and gene transcripts in rat muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2002;283:E38-43.

39. Grünblatt E, Koutsilieri E, Hoyer S, Riederer P. Gene expression alterations in brain areas of intracerebroventricular streptozotocin treated rat. J Alzheimers Dis 2006;9:261-71.

40. Byun MS, Jeon KI, Choi JW, Shim JY, Jue DM. Dual effect of oxidative

stress on NF-kappakB activation in HeLa cells. Exp Mol Med 2002;34:332-9.

41. Mehta A, Sekhon CP, Giri S, Orak JK, Singh AK. Attenuation of ischemia/reperfusion induced MAP kinases by N-acetyl cysteine, sodium nitroprusside and phosphoramidon. Mol Cell Biochem 2002;240:19-29.

42. Chen Y, Chan PH, Swanson RA. Astrocytes overexpressing Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase have increased resistance to oxidative injury. Glia 2001;33:343-7.

43. Chan PH. Reactive oxygen radicals in signaling and damage in the ischemic brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2001;21:2-14.

44. Schwarz DA, Barry G, Mackay KB, Manu F, Naeve GS, Vana AM et al. Identification of differentially expressed genes induced by transient ischemic stroke. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 2002;101:12-22.

45. Almeida A, Delgado-Esteban M, Bolaños JP, Medina JM. Oxygen and glucose deprivation induces mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in neurones but not in astrocytes in primary culture. J Neurochem 2002;81:207-17.

46. Furuichi T, Liu W, Shi H, Miyake M, Liu KJ. Generation of hydrogen peroxide during brief oxygen-glucose deprivation induces preconditioning neuronal protection in primary cultured neurons. J Neurosci Res 2005;79:816-24.

47. Voloboueva LA, Duan M, Ouyang Y, Emery JF, Stoy C, Giffard RG. Overexpression of mitochondrial Hsp70/Hsp75 protects astrocytes against ischemic injury *in vitro*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2008;28:1009-16.

48. Liu Y, Liu W, Song XD, Zuo J. Effect of GRP75/mthsp70/PBP74/mortalin

overexpression on intracellular ATP level, mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS accumulation following glucose deprivation in PC12 cells. Mol Cell Biochem 2005;268:45-51.

49. Lim R, Zaheer A, Kraakevik JA, Darby CJ, Oberley LW. Overexpression of glia maturation factor in C6 cells promotes differentiation and activates superoxide dismutase. Neurochem Res 1998;23:1445-51.

50. Oberley LW, Buettner GR. Role of superoxide dismutase in cancer: a review. Cancer Res 1979;39:1141-9.

51. Michiels C, Minet E, Mottet D, Raes M. Regulation of gene expression by oxygen: NF-kappaB and HIF-1, two extremes. Free Radic Biol Med 2002;33:1231-42.

52. Rojo AI, Salinas M, Martín D, Perona R, Cuadrado A. Regulation of Cu/Zn-superoxide dismutase expression via the phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase/Akt pathway and nuclear factor-kappaB. J Neurosci. 2004;24:7324-34.

C6 신경교종 세포에서 산소/포도당 결핍으로 유도되는 세포사 에 미치는 Bis 단백질 발현 억제 효과

<지도교수 안 영 수>

연세대학교 대학원 의과학과

정 승 은

Bis (Bcl-2 interacting cell death suppressor)는 항 세포사멸 단백질인 Bcl-2와 결합한다고 알려진 단백질로서 항 스트레스와 항 세포사멸 과정에 관여함이 보고되었다. 이전의 연구결과에서 Sprague-Dawley 쥐에 일시적인 전뇌 허혈을 유도한 뒤 해마의 별아교 세포에서 Bis 단백질의 발현을 관찰한 결과 현저하게 증가한 것을 확인하였다. 이 러한 허혈 손상에 의한 유의적인 증가의 기전을 조사하기 위해 C6 신경교종 세포에서 Bis 발현을 si-RNA 방법으로 감소시킨 뒤 산소/ 포도당 결핍 (oxygen-glucose deprivation; OGD)에 노출시켰다. 그 결과 생존도가 크게 감소하였고 활성 산소 종 (reactive oxygen species; ROS) 의 축적이 관찰되었다. 세포 내 항산화제 중 bis si-RNA 처리 세포 (bis-kd C6) 에서 항 산화 효소인 초과산화물 불균등화 효소 (superoxide dismutase; SOD)의 유도가 저해되었다. 더욱이 in-gel 분석 결과와 전사 수준을 조사한 결과 산소/포도당 결핍 유발에 의한 SOD1의 유도가 bis knock-down 세포에서 전사 수준에서부터 손상되 어있었다. Sod1 유전자의 전사조절인자의 후보로서 NF-κB의 활성을 DNA 결합 분석방법인 겔 지연방법과 p65 subunit 단백질의 핵 내로 의 이동을 조사한 결과 bis si-RNA를 처리하여 Bis 발현을 억제시킨 C6 신경교종 세포에서 NF-κB의 활성이 감소되어있었다. 또한, 산소/ 포도당 결핍 유발 손상에서 SOD mimetic을 처리한 신경교종 세포의 생존도가 특히 bis si-RNA를 처리한 세포에서 더 뚜렷하게 회복되었 다. 더욱이 NF-κB 활성 저해 시 SOD1 전사의 유발이 감소되었고

세포사가 심화되었는데 이는 Bis 단백질이 감소된 세포에서 확연한 차이를 보였다. 또한 constitutive 수준의 p65 단백질의 양은 bis knock-down에서 감소되어있는 반면 Bis 과발현 시 p65/RelA가 mRNA의 변화는 미미하나, 단백질 수준이 증가되어있었다. 이러한 결과들로 미루어보아 Bis 단백질의 생리학적 기능 중 하나는 p65 단 백질의 안정성을 조절하는 것으로 보이며 그럼으로써 NF-кB의 활성 을 조절하여 산화 스트레스에 의한 SOD1의 유발과 세포의 생존도 에 영향을 주는 것으로 보여진다. 그리고 Bis에 의한 p65의 안정성 조절의 정확한 기전은 추후에 조사해야 될 것으로 생각된다.

핵심되는 말: Bis, 산소/포도당 결핍, NF-κB, 초과산화물 불균등화 효 소, C6 신경교종 세포